

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

**HCNSO Student Theses and Dissertations** 

**HCNSO Student Work** 

7-25-2008

# A Comparison of Scleractinian Coral Abundance Between Natural and Artificial Substrata in a High-Latitude Environment Off Broward County, Florida, USA

Deron James Bauer Nova Southeastern University

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/occ\_stuetd

Part of the Marine Biology Commons, and the Oceanography and Atmospheric Sciences and Meteorology Commons

# Share Feedback About This Item

#### **NSUWorks Citation**

Deron James Bauer. 2008. A Comparison of Scleractinian Coral Abundance Between Natural and Artificial Substrata in a High-Latitude Environment Off Broward County, Florida, USA. Master's thesis. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, Oceanographic Center. (257) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/occ\_stuetd/257.

This Thesis is brought to you by the HCNSO Student Work at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in HCNSO Student Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

# A Comparison of Scleractinian Coral Abundance Between Natural and Artificial Substrata in a High-Latitude Environment Off Broward County, Florida, USA

Master's Thesis

## **Deron James Bauer**

Major Professor

Dr. Joshua Feingold Ph.D.

Submitted to the Faculty of Nova Southeastern University Oceanographic Center in Partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science with specialty in:

# **Marine Biology**

Nova Southeastern University July 25, 2008 Master of Science Thesis

# A Comparison of Scleractinian Coral Abundance Between Natural and Artificial Substrata in a High-Latitude Environment Off Broward County, Florida, USA

## By

# **Deron James Bauer**

Approved:

Thesis Committee

Major Professor :\_\_\_\_\_

Joshua S. Feingold, Ph.D. Nova Southeastern University

Committee Member :\_\_\_\_

Richard E. Spieler, Ph.D. Nova Southeastern University

Committee Member :\_\_\_\_

David S. Gilliam, Ph.D. Nova Southeastern University

Nova Southeastern University 2008

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	ii			
List of Tables and Figuresiii				
Acknowledgements	v			
1.0 Abstract	1			
2.0 Introduction	2			
2.1 Coral Reefs	2			
2.2 Artificial Reefs	6			
2.3 Broward County Artificial Reefs	9			
2.4 Study Area:	9			
2.5 Physical Variables:	. 12			
2.5.1 Currents	. 12			
2.5.2 Temperature:	. 14			
2.5.3 Salinity and Turbidity:	. 14			
2.5.4 Severe Weather:	. 15			
2.6 Hypotheses	. 21			
3.0 Materials and Methods	. 22			
3.1 Erojacks sampling:	. 22			
3.2 Natural Reef Sampling:	. 24			
4.0 Results:	. 24			
4.1 Hurricane Impacts:	. 24			
4.2 Temperature Variation	. 28			
4.3 Live Tissue Surface Area Per Segment	. 32			
4.4 Coral Density per Segment	. 35			
4.5 Overall: Natural Versus Artificial	. 37			
4.6 Shannon-Weiner Diversity Index and Eveness	. 40			
5.0 Discussion:	. 41			
5.1 Changes Following Hurricanes	. 42			
5.2 Temperature	. 44			
5.3 Artificial versus Natural Reef	. 44			
6.0 Conclusion	. 50			
7.0 Literature Cited	. 52			

# List of Tables and Figures

Table 1:	Broward County Scleractinian Coral Species5
Table 2:	Coral Data per Segment
Table 3:	Newman-Keuls Comparison of Surface Areas
Table 4:	Percent of Corals Greater than 25cm <sup>2</sup> by Segment
Table 5:	Coral Abundance per Reef Segment
Table 6:	Newman-Keuls Comparison of Coral Abundance
Table 7:	Overall Coral Abundance and Surface Area
Table 8:	Average Surface Area of Coral Colonies by Species
Table 9:	Shannon-Weiner Diversity41
Figure 1:	Side-scan SONAR Map of Broward County Reef Tract: John U Lloyd State Park and Port Everglades Entrance4
Figure 2:	Examples of Broward County Artificial Reefs. A. Steel Hulled Ship; B. Rubber Tires; C. Pre-cast Concrete "Reef Balls; D. Concrete Culvert
Figure 3:	Side View of a Hexapod Module and the Erojack Reef in the Background10
Figure 4:	Photograph of the linear path of the Erojacks Reef10
Figure 5:	Image of the Gulf Stream and its Proximity to the Florida Coast14
Figure 6:	Ariel Photograph of Port Everglades and the Sediment Plume Produced by the Port
Figure 7:	The Severe Weather Pattern of the South East United States (Oklahoma Climatology Survey 1999)17
Figure 8:	Hurricanes Katrina (A), Wilma (B), Ernesto (C)20
Figure 9:	Erojacks Sampling Method23

Figure 10:	Mean Number of Corals Present Pre-and Post Hurricanes Katrina and Wilma (2005)
Figure 11:	Number of Corals/m <sup>2</sup> Pre- and Post-Hurricanes25
Figure 12:	Surface Cover of Corals Pre and Post-Hurricanes Katrina and Wilma (2005)
Figure 13:	Comparison of the Total Number of Coral Colonies and Total Live Coral Tissue Surface Area $(m^2)$ Pre- and Post Hurricanes .26
Figure 14:	Live Coral Tissue Surface Area/m <sup>2</sup> Pre- and Post-Hurricanes27
Figure 15:	Seawater Temperatures July 2005 – February 2007
Figure 16:	Air and Sea Temperatures: Hurricane Katrina, August 25, 200530
Figure 17:	Air and Sea Temperatures: Hurricane Wilma: October 23, 200531
Figure 18:	Air and Sea Temperatures: Hurricane Ernesto, August 29, 200631
Figure 19:	Average Live Tissue Surface Area (cm <sup>2</sup> ) on Each Segment of the Artificial Reef by Species
Figure 20:	Number of Coral Colonies /m <sup>2</sup> on the Artificial and Natural Reef Segments
Figure 21:	Average Coral Size (cm <sup>2</sup> ) on the 3 Artificial Reef Segments by Species
Figure 22:	Average Coral Size (cm <sup>2</sup> ) on both the Natural and Artificial Reef by Species
Figure 23:	Growth Forms of Corals. A: <i>D. clivosa</i> Colony on the Natural Reef. B: <i>D. labyrinthiformis</i> Colony on the Erojack Reef

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Joshua S. Feingold, Dr. Richard E. Spieler, and Dr. David S. Gilliam for their time and effort while completing my graduate studies. Dr. Joshua Feingold, my advisor and committee chair, thank you for the opportunity to work with you on such a great project. I have come so far and learned so much.

Thank you to Maureen Trnka, Kendra Maroni, Katherine Koontz, David Portnoy, Brettany Cook, and Adam St. Gelais, my amazing dive team. Without all of you, there would have been no dives, no data, and no thesis. Your selfless acts of volunteerism have made this all possible. I will always be here for all of you, whenever you need me.

Thank you to Kevin Kohler for your knowledge of data analysis, to Dr. Gabriel Suciu for statistical and GEE analysis, and to Brian Walker for supplying some vital images for this work.

To Sara Croll, my wonderful fiancée, your continued support, encouragement, and love, has helped to mold me into the scientist I am today. Thank you for never giving up on me throughout this journey, even through the most discouraging and difficult times.

To Kevin Zimmers, former employer, scout leader, and friend. Since we first met when I was 11, you have always been there for me. No matter what the problem, you always pointed me in the right direction. Your advice has always been inspiring and heart-felt. You are a true friend

Finally, I want to thank my family. Mom-Mom, Nana, Pop-Pop, Mom, Dad, Rachel and Audrey, you have all always been there for me and supported me in all of my decisions. From my first trip to the National Aquarium with Mom-Mom, to Pop-Pop's help in Algebra, to mowing the grass, and shoveling snow, you have all taught that hard work and dedication will take you far in life. All of you showed me how to be a good person and succeed in life. Thank you for teaching me to always set my goals high and never to back down from a challenge. I have come so far, and without all you I would not be the man I am today.

## **1.0 Abstract**

The Dania Beach Erojacks Artificial Reef was deployed off the coast of Broward County, Florida on December 31, 1967 as a way to help combat beach erosion. Over the last forty years, the linear pile of concrete hexapods has become an important habitat, for scleractinian corals, octocorals, algae, crustaceans, mollusks, and fish. This study focuses on the density and size of the scleractinian corals found on this artificial reef and how it compares to that of the nearby natural reef. In addition, the impact of two hurricanes on the shallow portion of the artificial reef was documented. In the 2-year study, results indicate that there was higher coral cover on the natural reef (6.45%)compared to 4.27% cover on the artificial reef. Most of the colonies on the natural reef are larger than those found on the artificial reef; 65.6% vs. 29.7% were greater than 25cm<sup>2</sup>. When comparing colony numbers, there are more than three times as many on the artificial reef (3870) compared to the same area of natural reef (1133). This corresponds to colony densities of  $5.0/m^2$  on the artificial reef, compared to  $1.5/m^2$  on the natural reef. The passage of two hurricanes in close proximity to the artificial reef resulted in no decrease in the number and surface area of corals when pre- and post-hurricane values were compared. Surprisingly, there were significant increases in both coral abundance (GEE Analysis, p < 0.0001) and cover (GEE Analysis, p = 0.0001), however these changes were attributed to improved proficiency of the researchers in finding corals rather than actual increases in these values.

#### **2.0 Introduction**

#### 2.1 Coral Reefs

A coral reef is a three-dimensional, tropical, shallow water structure dominated by scleractinian corals (Bellwood 2004), that accretes carbonate (Wainwright 1965). However, the reef ecosystem as a whole contains numerous associated species including, sponges, octocorals, bryozoans, mollusks, crustaceans, fishes, algae, and seagrass. Reaka-Kudla (1996) compared coral reefs to tropical rainforests and concluded that coral reefs are one of the most biologically diverse environments in the world.

Aside from their spectacular diversity, coral reefs serve as great economic resources, providing revenue from tourism, recreational diving, commercial and recreational fishing, as well as, providing food, supporting a supply of marine animals for the aquarium trade, and creating carbonate building materials (Straccione 2002). Both coral reefs and coral communities support a vast array of life and are a major source of revenue in Southeast Florida due to recreational activities of residence and visitors. In 1995, (Scoggins and Pierce), estimated revenue generated by meals, lodging, transportation, equipment rentals, and boat charter associated with diving, snorkeling, and fishing in South Florida can amount to \$600 million annually. However, according to John et al. (2001), persons who used the reefs in Broward County spent \$1,024,000,000 (\$1 billion) on reef-related expenditures. Of this amount \$496 million was associated with artificial reef-related expenditures. Thus, coral health is essential to South Florida's ocean based economy.

Coral reefs also serve as the first line of defense against offshore wave assault (particularly those associated with cyclonic storms) and help control shoreline erosion (Edwards and Clark 1992).

In South Florida, actively growing coral reef formation occur South of Miami, along the Florida Keys, to the Dry Tortugas in an area known as the Florida Reef Tract (Marszalek et al. 1977). Reefs can form in this area because seawater temperature is generally above 16°C, which is conducive for calcium carbonate secretion (Burns 1985). North of Miami, four bathymetric structures exist that run for 170km (SECREMP 2007) from Miami-Dade County, through Broward County, and into Palm Beach County (Figure 1). In 2007, Banks described these structures as: 1. The nearshore reef complex, an area of coquina limestone and carbonate quartz sandstone, interpreted to be deposited between 6500 - 8000 years ago, and is located approximately 500m from shore in 3-4m of water; 2. The inner reef terrace closest to shore is a back reef zone of relatively undeveloped inshore and patch reefs, located 900m offshore in 4-5m of water; 3. The middle reef terrace is an outer reef zone of well-developed reef platform that develops 2-3m of relief and is composed of a broad platform of gorgonians and flat coral colonies in 7-8m of water approximately 1200m offshore; 4. The outer reef terrace is a fore reef zone including deeper areas adjacent to reef habitat that lay in 16-18m of water, approximately 2000m from shore and is the most developed. The reef like ridges north of Miami are relict with no active accretion due to the exceeding low cover of reef building corals (Moyer et al, 2003). Seawater temperature in this area drops below the optimal range for coral growth causing these coral communities to be less diverse and reduced in coral abundance when compared to the reefs to the south (Jaap 1984). One hundred seventeen (117) species of scleractinian corals and gorgonians have been



Figure 1: LIDAR Bathymetry Map of Broward County Reef Tract: John U Lloyd State Park and Port Everglades Entrance. Image Courtesy of Brian Walker, NCRI, 2008, per comm.

described in South Florida; however, most of these are only found within the Florida Reef Tract, south of Miami (Jaap et al. 1988). In Broward County, where no active reef accretion occurs, coral communities are comprised of only 36 species (Table 1) of scleractinian corals, with low cover (<6%), and small colony size (<50cm diameter) (Goldberg 1973, University of Florida 2007). According to Moyer et al. (2003) *Montastrea cavernosa* predominates as the major scleractinian coral, is also supported by Loya (1976) who reported that in areas with heavy sedimentation and high turbidity, such as this site, *M. cavernosa* is the most abundant reef building coral. However, my

Acropora cervicornis	Millepora complanata <sup>1</sup>
Acropora palmata	Montastraea annularis
Agaricia agaricites	Montastraea faveolata
Agaricia fragilis	Montastrea cavernosa
Agaricia lamarcki	Mussa angulosa
Cladocora arbuscula	Mycetophillia lamarkiana
Colpophyllia natans	Mycetophyllia aliciae
Dendrogyra cylindrus	Oculina diffusa
Dichocoenia stokesii	Oculina robusta <sup>1</sup>
Dichocoenia stellaris <sup>1</sup>	Oculina tenella <sup>1</sup>
Diploria clivosa	Oculina varicosa <sup>1</sup>
Diploria labyrinthiformis	Phyllangia americana
Diploria strigosa	Porites astreoides
Eusmilia fastigiata	Porites porites
Favia fragum	Scolymia cubensis
Isophyllastrea rigida <sup>1</sup>	Siderastrea radians
Isophyllia sinuosa	Siderastrea siderea
Leptoseris cucullata	Solenastrea bournoni
Madracis decactis	Solenastrea hyades <sup>1</sup>
Madracis mirabilis	Stephanocoenia intersepta
Meandrina meandrites	Tubastrea coccinea
Millepora alcicornis	

Table 1: Broward County Scleractinian Coral Species (<sup>1</sup>Goldberg 1973) (All others Goldberg 1973, Gilliam et al, 2007, Gilliam 2007)

observations indicated that *Diploria clivosa* was the predominant coral on the natural reef. Also noted by Moyer (2004) is that the only missing major reef builder in the area (as compared with the Florida Keys and other Caribbean areas) is *Acropora palmata*.

Today, corals and coral reefs worldwide are in a state of decline (Jameson et al. 1995; Feary et al. 2007). Some of the degradation can be attributed to natural disturbances including disease, changing weather patterns and storms. However, according to Connell et al. (1997), reefs readily reassemble after routine natural disturbances. Therefore, anthropogenic disturbances including coastal development, pollution, ship groundings and overexploitation may be the leading cause of coral reef degradation. Estimates show that nearly 50% of the world's human population lives within 200km of the coast and this proportion is expected to rise (Stegeman and Solow, 2002). As a result, human impacts increasingly threaten productive and diverse coastal ecosystems such as seagrass meadows and coral reefs. One of the greatest threats to these ecosystems comes from "cultural" eutrophication, where nutrient enrichment in coastal waters due to human activities stimulates the growth of algae which overgrows and destroys coral reefs (Mutchler et al. 2007). Throughout the world, management plans involving the use of artificial reefs are being used to replenish losses from both natural and anthropogenic disturbances (Bohnsack and Sutherland 1985; Spieler et al. 2001).

#### 2.2 Artificial Reefs

Historically, the primary objective of artificial reef plans has been fishery enhancement. Artificial reefs function ecologically by either aggregating existing scattered individuals, or they allow secondary biomass production through increased survival and growth of new individuals because of shelter, substrate and food resources

provided by the reef (Bohnsack and Sutherland 1985). Using artificial reefs for this purpose dates back to the mid-1800s in the United States (Stone 1972), and it has only been recently that they are being used for other functions. Today, artificial reefs are also used in nature conservation, erosion control, provision of additional habitat, aquaculture, tourism, and coral habitat mitigation, protection, and restoration of damaged reef areas (Bohnsack and Sutherland 1985, Harris 2007).

When artificial reef deployments began in the United States, most were haphazardly located and were constructed of waste materials, including old cars, appliances, aircrafts, boats, tires, culverts, storage tanks, and concrete debris (Figure 2) (Bohnsack and Sutherland 1985). Over time, monitoring programs revealed that many of these items deteriorated rapidly in the marine environment and did little to attract or recruit marine life.

Tires were once thought to be good material for artificial reefs. Rubber is inert in the marine environment, is long lasting, and attracts fish. Deploying tires in the marine environment reduces landfill burden by providing an alternate location for used tire disposal (Parker et al. 1974). However, recent studies show that tires do not make a good artificial reef material. Bundled tires are not stable on the bottom and can be moved and broken apart during storms causing damage to surrounding natural reefs or wash up on shore as had occurred in South Florida (Raymond, 1981). Also, Fitzharding and Bailey-Brock (1989) concluded that, even though they had more space for recruitment, tires attracted the fewest corals of any other material. Cars, planes, small ships, and metal in general do not make suitable artificial reefs as well. This is mainly because they have a short lifespan of only 1-5 years in the marine environment, and in some cases can release toxins (Fitzharding and Bailey-Brock 1989).



Figure 2: Examples of Broward County Artificial Reefs. A. Steel Hulled Ship; B. Rubber Tires; C. Pre-cast, Concrete "Reef Balls; D. Concrete Culvert (Images A, C, and D, Intermedia Outdoors, 2008; Image B, Associated Press 2007)

Initially, these materials do attract corals, invertebrates, and fishes, but because of their rate of deterioration, reefs made of light gauge metals are relatively ineffective (Stone 1972). Heavier gauge metals such as those found on large ships have met some success in recruiting corals, yet most are easily overgrown by algae, sponges, and invertebrates (CRC Press 2000). Cement and concrete in either simple boulder forms or specifically designed, pre-cast forms has proven to be the most effective material used for artificial reefs (Fitzharding and Bailey-Brock 1989; Brock and Norris 1989; Edwards and Clark 1992). The rough surface texture of concrete structures provides a suitable area for corals and other invertebrates to colonize. However, concrete has its drawbacks. The cost of

transportation of the material is high, and occasional scouring during storms can occur (Parker et al. 1974). Concrete is still the best option for artificial reefs, and today most are constructed of this material allowing the additional benefit of design flexibility for the purpose of reef enhancement.

#### 2.3 Broward County Artificial Reefs

In Broward County, Florida, many artificial reefs have been deployed. Since 1982, the Broward County Department of Planning and Environmental Protection (DPEP) have deployed over 112 artificial reefs offshore of Broward County. These reefs, which are designed to create a new stable substrate were made from a variety of material, including ships, barges, oil rigs, limestone rock, concrete culverts, and engineered concrete artificial reef modules (Figure 2) that were considered environmentally suitable and durable (Broward County Biological Research Division 2007). These materials were deployed at various depths ranging from 4m to 130m where they quickly became habitat for a multitude of marine life.

#### 2.4 Study Area:

The Dania Beach Erojacks Reef is a linear artificial reef composed of thousands of concrete hexapods arranged in a linear fashion perpendicular to the shoreline, located off the coast of John U. Lloyd Beach State Park in Dania Beach, Florida, USA, in 4-7m of water (Figures 1,3,4). It extends perpendicular to the shoreline from its shallowest (3-4m), westernmost end, 100m from shore at 26° 03.786' N: 80° 06.569' W to its deepest (5-6m), easternmost end, 500m from shore, at 26° 03.758' N 80° 06.344' W. This means the Erojacks Artificial Reef extends from its nearshore origins at the transition from sand to hardbottom out to the Nearshore Ridge Complex at its

offshore terminus. It was deployed on December 31, 1967, making this one of the oldest artificial reefs in Broward County. Each Erojack hexapod module is approximately 1.5m high and has an approximate surface area of  $4.4m^2$  on which organism can settle (Figure 3). When piling these Erojacks into the reef form, the width of the reef ranges from 1.5m on the ends to about 7.0m in the middle of the reef where more hexapod modules were deployed (Figure 4). Height of the reef also varied from 1.5m at the ends to nearly 4m in the middle. Given these values the total surface area of all modules composing the Erojacks reef is approximately 4500m<sup>2</sup>.

This study's focus is to determine if there is a difference in species richness, colony number, and colony surface area between corals growing on the Dania Beach Erojack artificial reef and those found on the adjacent ridge complex natural reef. This has important management considerations, especially as artificial reef deployment is used as mitigation for damage to natural reefs. If artificial reefs can never support coral diversity and biomass that is similar to the natural reef, then the differences are important to know.

Since the Erojacks Reef is one of the oldest reefs in the county, it serves as a useful indicator of what could be anticipated over decadal time scales from initial deployment. It is expected that the artificial reef will be more productive (greater number of colonies and greater colony surface area) and diverse (greater number of species) than the surrounding reef due to its greater three-dimensional complexity, lack of competition at the time of deployment, and the availability of substrate for settlement.



Figure 3: Side View of a Hexapod Module and the Erojack Reef in the Background. Height of individual module is approximately 1.5m. Photo Courtesy of Dr. Joshua Feingold, NSUOC.



Figure 4: Photograph of the linear path of the Erojacks Reef Photo Courtesy of Dr. Joshua Feingold, NSUOC.

#### 2.5 Physical Variables:

Many physical variables including currents, temperature, salinity, turbidity, light, and physical disturbance may have great impact on the habitat and will affect biological activity on both the natural and artificial substrate.

#### 2.5.1 Currents

Currents can affect reefs in three different ways. Currents can enrich upwelling in coastal areas by adding nutrients to the water column. They can increase turbidity in the nearshore areas by suspending sediments, thus limiting light availability. Finally currents can drastically change nearshore temperatures, thus effecting, species diversity and abundance. According to Chiappone and Sulivan (1994), currents in the Florida Keys at sites with high sedimentation and current velocities <1m/s consist of sparse aggregations of the scleractinian *Siderastrea radians*, and gorgonians *Pterogorgia anceps*, and *Briareum asbestinum*, while sites with low sedimentation and current velocities > 1m/s had a higher species diversity and exhibited a higher cover of scleractinian corals and gorgonians.

At the study site, currents are mainly dominated by the Florida Current, a branch of the Gulf Stream flowing north at approximately 1.3m/s between the Bahamas Banks and Southeast Florida (Banks et al, 2007). On the average, the inner edge of the Florida Current is within 16km of Miami and Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, and at times there is a 2 m/s flow within a several kilometers of the coast (Figure 5). This current is very dynamic and meanders a good deal, generating eddies off of the main body bringing current waters onto the shelf and to the reef environment (Sponaugle et al. 2005). Florida Current perturbations vary from slow-moving mesoscale gyres to faster-moving, sub-mesoscale

spin-off eddies. The Florida Current spin-off eddies have diameters between 5 and 50 km and advection velocities between 0.20 and 0.80 m/s (Lee 1975). These eddies can affect reef biota through fluctuations in turbidity, temperature, and salinity in the nearshore environment.

In this study, currents were not examined and surveys were usually not conducted on days in which currents were too strong to swim against. On days in which local currents could be overcome, the currents most often flowed to the north, perpendicular to the Erojacks reef, although southward flowing currents were occasionally encountered.



Figure 5: Image of the Gulf Stream and its Proximity to the Florida Coast. Gyory et al. 2001

#### 2.5.2 Temperature:

Coral reefs are especially vulnerable to temperature elevation because coral colonies bleach rapidly and dramatically in response to increased sea surface temperatures. Corals live in environments that are close to their upper thermal threshold (the temperature limit for survival), and even temperature increases of 1 or 2° C above their thermal limit over a sustained period of time (i.e. a month) can cause mass bleaching (Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999).

The nearshore ocean temperatures off Broward County can range from  $14^{\circ}$  C –  $38^{\circ}$  C, with mean values above  $18^{\circ}$  C, the threshold temperature generally accepted for reef development (Jaap 1984). Thermal stress on corals can result in slow or no growth, and loss of the symbiotic zooxanthellae or bleaching. Temperatures were recorded *in situ* at three locations (nearshore, mid-reef, and offshore) along the Erojacks artificial reef and one location in the natural reef community using Onset Computer Stowaway submersible dataloggers.

#### 2.5.3 Salinity and Turbidity:

Both salinity and turbidity can affect coral growth and bleaching. According to Dole and Chambers (1918), heavy precipitation in Miami was almost always followed by a reduction in salinity on the reef in the neighboring areas and has been found to fluctuate between 34.2 and 38.6ppt, which is well within the 27-40ppt (36ppt is ideal) tolerance range for hermatypic corals (Coral Cay, 2007). Buchheim (1998) reported that dilution of reef waters from storm-generated precipitation and runoff in nearshore areas has caused coral bleaching but these bleaching events are rare and confined to relatively small areas. Salinity stress can also affect coral metabolism. Muthiga and Szmant (1987)

suggest that salinity reductions of less than 10ppt from optimal values result in no differences in respiration but there was a significant reduction in photosynthesis, while changes greater than 10ppt show reduction in both respiration and photosynthesis.

Turbidity in the area is also very important as zooxanthellae (coral endosymbiont) require light for photosynthesis. In the western Atlantic, Caribbean and Pacific, dredging associated with the construction of hotels, condominiums, runways, roads, military installations, with beach replenishment has destroyed reefs, seagrass beds, and mangroves. Dredging near coral reefs and accelerated runoff of eroded soils increase turbidity, thereby cutting down light available for photosynthesis, as well as increasing sediment load on corals (Rogers 1990).

Williams et al. (1960) reported Secchi Disc distances between 4.5 to 35m in the Florida Keys. This is a considerable variability and following frequent storms in South Florida the water may become nearly opaque and may take days to clear depending on conditions. Turbidity in the area could also be affected by sediment outflows from Port Everglades located approximately 3km North of the study site (Figure 6). Reduced light will certainly diminish coral growth, and if extended for long periods of time, may kill corals. During the study, turbidity was not measured but visibility was generally low, ranging from 3 to 7m during the survey period.

#### 2.5.4 Severe Weather:

Hurricane disturbance to coral reefs has been well documented throughout the Caribbean (Woodly et al, 1981; Blair et al, 1994; Lirman et al, 2001). The physical characteristics of each storm, as well as timing, sequence of disturbance, and disturbance history of an area (Figure 7) has been shown to play a major role in determining damage



Figure 6: Arial Photograph of Port Everglades and the sediment plume produced by the Port. (Image source unknown)

and recovery patterns of coral reefs (Lirman et al, 2001). Hurricanes can cause physical destruction through increased turbidity and sedimentation, through lowering of salinity and increased nutrient concentrations after heavy terrestrial runoff, but direct physical effects from heavy swells and surge usually are the most damaging (Stoddart, 1970). These disturbances cause physical destruction of corals and other reef organisms and can



Figure 7: The Severe Weather Pattern of the South East United States (Oklahoma Climatology Survey 1999)

affect the coral community structure in a variety of ways. First, the diversity of a coral reef system can change due to reduction in species richness or even elimination of a species in the area (Rogers et al, 1982). Second, competitive interactions between reef organisms can be altered through removal of the superior competitor or through alteration of the local environment (Lang 1973). Third, increased destruction of branching species compared to massive and encrusting forms will reduce the three-dimensional structure of

the reef (Rogers et al, 1982). Fourth, fragmentation and overturning of corals, coupled with scouring effects provide new surfaces for colonization by algae, corals, and other invertebrates (Shinn, 1976).

Between August 30 and September 6, 1979, Hurricanes David and Frederic impacted St. Croix, USVI. Hurricane David was the more intense storm with wind gusts up to 86km/hr and wave heights estimated to be 5.8m, while Hurricane Frederic had wind speeds between 64-80km/h and wave heights between 1.5-3.0m (Rogers et al, 1982) This area is dominated by large stands of Acropora palmata, as well as Acropora cervicornis, and the hydrozoan coral Millepora complanata. These branching communities were severely damaged and fragmented due to heavy swells and surge. Surprisingly, after the hurricane the branches which broke off were still alive, the bases of the original colonies were regrowing at their fracture sites, and it was found that nearly 50% of the damaged A. *palmata* had healed within one year of the hurricane (Rogers et al, 1982). On August 6, 1980, Hurricane Allen passed to the north coast of Jamaica, and severely damaged neighboring reefs. Wind gusts reached 285km/h in the center of the hurricane, and were reported to be 110km/h in Discovery Bay. Wave heights were observed to be over 12m (Woodley et al, 1981). Again, as seen following David and Frederic, large stands of A. *palmata* were leveled, but this time the forereef was also damaged. Damage was not only confined to the shallow reef area but was found to extend to a depth of 50m. Waves and surge accounted for the majority of the damage but scouring sands and dislodged solid objects accounted for more damage than in David or Frederic. According to Woodley et al. (1981), the amount and type of damage inflicted upon the sessile benthic taxa was greatly influenced by their shape, size, and mechanical properties. In some areas, the planar living area of Acropora spp was reduced by 99%, while the colony number of the

foliaceous and encrusting coral Agaricia agaricites was reduced by only 23%, and the colony number of the massive coral Montastrea annularis was reduced by only 9%. But due to the variable effects of the disturbance, some of the branching fragments which broke off remained alive, and the massive corals which sustained damage were healing. On August 24, 1992, Hurricane Andrew impacted the southeast coast of Florida as a category 4 hurricane with sustained winds of 234 km/hand gusts up to 282km/h. Impacts to the natural reefs varied widely among sponge, algal, hard coral and soft coral communities. However, the inshore reef tract showed the smallest amount of damage overall, and hard corals were the least affected with a loss of less than 23% (Blair et al, 1994). Impacts to the studied artificial reefs of Blair et al. (1994) also varied widely, and ranged from no impact, to movement, to partial or total structural modification, but no pattern of damage relative to location, orientation, or depth of reef material was discernable. Blair's study looked at a myriad of artificial reefs material including, ships, tugs, barges, steel tanks, and oil rig platforms but no concrete structures. The alterations to these structures included movement up to several meters, overturning, bending and cracking to complete loss of structural integrity. In comparison, the erojack reef is composed of pre-cast concrete and will be much less susceptible to movement and degradation caused by violent weather.

The Dania Beach Erojack Reef was deployed on December 30, 1967 as a means to combat beach erosion. Since that time, nine major hurricanes have passed over the area, including three during the period of this study. Hurricane Katrina (Figure 8)made landfall in Southeast Florida along the Miami-Dade and Broward county line between Hallandale Beach and North Miami Beach (approximately 10km south of the study site), on August 25, 2005 as a category-1 hurricane (on the five point Saffir-Simpson scale),

with wind speeds between 119-153km/hr, and a storm surge generally 1.22-1.52m above normal (NWSIST, 2005). Fort Lauderdale International Airport, approximately 2.4km from the study site reported sustained winds of 94km/h with gusts up to 128km/h (Knabb



Figure 8: Hurricanes Katrina (A), Wilma (B), Ernesto (C). (National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Association 2006, 2007).

2006). About two months later, Hurricane Wilma (Figure 8) made landfall in southwestern Florida on October 23, 2005 before cutting a diagonal path across the state and entering the Atlantic Ocean south and central Palm Beach County. At landfall Wilma was a category 3 hurricane with sustained winds between 178-209 km/hr, but as the hurricane crossed Florida it weakened to a category 2 with wind speeds between 154-177km/hr and storm surge between 1.83-2.44m above normal (NWSIST, 2005). Fort Lauderdale International Airport approximately 2.4km inland from the study site reported sustained winds of 114km/h with gusts up to 162km/h (Pasch et al, 2006). The next year, Ernesto (Figure 8) made landfall in Miami-Dade on August 29, 2006, as a weak tropical storm with wind speeds from 62-82km/hr. Sustained winds of 47km/h and gusts up to 61km/h were reported at Fort Lauderdale International Airport (Knabb 2006). Several cities in the South Florida Metropolitan Area, which includes Palm Beach, Fort Lauderdale, and Miami suffered damage from all three of these storms as a result of the intense winds.

#### 2.6 Hypotheses

Artificial reefs are used to mitigate damage to natural reefs by providing suitable habitat for marine organisms. However, little information exists about whether this result is achieved. Since the Erojacks reef is the county's oldest know purposefully deployed artificial reef, it is more likely to have reached a state of biological equilibrium than other more recently deployed structures. This study examines species richness, and density values for live tissue surface area and numbers of scleractinian corals between the Dania Beach Erojack artificial reef and the natural reef that lies adjacent to the eastern-most end of the Erojacks. It is expected that the artificial reef will be higher in all respects compared to the surrounding natural reef due to its 3-dimensional complexity. Results from this study will provide managers with information on the effectiveness of artificial reefs as a tool to mitigate damage to natural reefs and enhance nearshore resources. Also, the impact of two hurricanes upon the artificial reef will be assessed by comparing preand post-hurricane data on its shallowest portion. It is expected that the hurricanes will

have damaged some of the corals living on the reef, thus reducing colony size and/or abundance.

#### **3.0** Materials and Methods

Sampling of both the artificial Erojack reef and the natural reef offshore Dania Beach, Florida, was performed using SCUBA techniques over the course of two years (2005-2007). During the study, temperature was recorded *in situ* using Onset submersible dataloggers, but salinity, turbidity, and currents were not examined.

#### 3.1 Erojacks sampling:

The Dania Beach Erojack Reef is composed of thousands of concrete hexapods with an approximate surface area of 4500m<sup>2</sup>. Because there are physical differences from shallow to deeper water, surveys were split into three distinct areas, nearshore (3-5m in depth), mid-depth (5-6m in depth) and offshore (6-7m in depth), allowing me to see if there were any differences among segments. The nearshore segment of the reef was from 0-125m as measured from the western-most (shoreward) edge towards the east (offshore). The mid-depth segment was from 125-250m, and the offshore segment was from 250-380m. In each segment, randomly located, 2m wide belt transects perpendicular to the main axis of the artificial reef were stretched across the pile of hexapods from north to south (belts varied in area based on the width of the Erojacks Reef). Thirty belt transects were performed in the nearshore and middepth segments, and 29 were performed in the offshore segment for a total of 89 belts (Figure 9). The 2m width was used because point-intersept transects or narrower belts did not intercept sufficient numbers of corals. And, when attempting to use larger widths (i.e. 3m and 5m),

repetitive counts of some colonies occurred and often corals were being missed due to the complexity of the reef. Within each belt, each scleractinian coral was measured for surface area (live tissue's measures, length x width) and species, also an approximate surface area of the reef itself within the belt was calculated by projecting its dimensions as a half cylinder. This underestimated the actual surface area of the reef modules. A more detailed area calculation was too cumbersome to implement for data collection because of the intricate and elaborate 3-D structure of the Erojacks Reef.



Figure 9: Erojacks Sampling Method. Sampling was continuous from nearshore to offshore, thus 4.17, 30m transects were used for the nearshore and middepth sections, and 4.3 were used for the offshore section resulting in 30 transects in the nearshore, 30 in the mid-depth, and 29 in the offshore segments).

## 3.2 Natural Reef Sampling:

In order to sample the natural reef, and cover the same area as that on the Erojacks, four 100m transects were used. Two ran from an area slightly seaward and north of the Erojack reef to the north, and two ran from an area slightly seaward and south of the Erojack reef to the south along the main axis of the natural reef. Within each transect, randomly located 2m wide belt transects were used to sample coral cover. The number (89) and total surface area of these belt transect were the same as those on the artificial reef. Again, within each belt, each scleractinian coral encountered was recorded for species and surface area by measuring the live tissue's maximum length and width.

## 4.0 Results:

#### 4.1 Hurricane Impacts:

Before the arrival of the first hurricane that impacted the study site (Katrina, Aug. 2005), 90m of the nearshore portion of artificial reef had been surveyed. Approximately 3 weeks following the two hurricanes in 2005 (Katrina & Wilma), this segment was resurveyed to determine if there were effects from the storms. Prior to the hurricanes, 771 coral colonies were observed with a mean coral surface area of 1792 cm<sup>2</sup>, while after the hurricanes there were 818 individuals with a mean coral surface area of 1805 cm<sup>2</sup> (Figures 10). Density of corals increased from 5.69 corals/m<sup>2</sup> before the hurricanes to 6.09 corals/m<sup>2</sup> after the hurricanes (Figure 11). Also, total surface of live coral colonies and number were also compared (Figure 12,13). Here we see 771 colonies accounting for 3.76 m<sup>2</sup> of living tissue Pre-Hurricane and 818 colonies accounting for 3.79m<sup>2</sup> of live tissue Post-Hurricane. Density values were then calculated for the amount of live



Figure 10: Mean Number of Corals Present per Belt Pre-and Post-Hurricanes Katrina and Wilma (2005)



Figure 11: Density of Corals (# of corals/m<sup>2</sup>) pre- and post-huricanes.



Figure 12: Mean Live Coral Surface Area (cm<sup>2</sup>) of Corals per Belt Pre-and Post-Hurricanes Katrina and Wilma (2005)



Figure 13. Comparison of the Total Number of Coral Colonies and Total Live Coral Tissue Surface Area(m<sup>2</sup>) Pre- and Post Hurricanes For the Entire 90m Section.

#### Density (Live Tissue/m2)



Figure 14: Live coral tissue surface area $/m^2$ 

tissue/m<sup>2</sup>. Here we find 0.0277 of live tissue/m<sup>2</sup> before the hurricanes and 0.0279 of live tissue/m<sup>2</sup> after the hurricanes (Figure 14).

The pre- and post-hurricane coral cover data was analyzed using a GEE Analysis and we find a significant increase in both coral abundance (p < 0.0001, n=21) and live tissue cover (p = 0.0001, n = 21). Since the GEE Analysis is a relatively new technique, the following will help explain its application (Suciu pers. comm.).

Coral abundance represents count data, they have a Poisson distribution, with two repeated measurements: pre- and post- hurricanes on same location. Consequently, we used a Poisson regression for repeated measurements. The data of pre- and postmeasurements are correlated, which implies the use of the generalized estimating equation methodology (GEE), which is the only methodology that can be used for repeated correlated count data (Liang and Zeger, 1986; Stokes et al, 2000).

The surface area represents interval measurements, thus continuous scale repeated measurements that are also correlated: pre- and post- hurricanes on the same corals. For this type of data we used a multiple linear regression for repeated measurement. Since the data are correlated we used the generalized estimating equation methodology (GEE). The normality assumptions for the GEE methodology are relaxed, the parameter estimates being very robust based on the convergence of the GEE algorithm and its exchangeable covariance matrix.

With regard to pre and post hurricane abundances the model has 2 dependent variables (Pre and Post Hurricane) and 2 independent variables (presence of the hurricane and the location of the measurement: the belts). Using the above GEE regression we found a significant difference between coral abundance, pre- and post- hurricane season (p < 0.0001) as well as a significant difference between the belts, pre- and post- hurricane season, concerning the coral abundance count (p = 0.003).

Next we used the GEE regression for the surface area measurements. Here we find a significant difference in coral surface area (p = 0.0001) pre- versus post- hurricane and a significant difference in surface area (p = 0.0035) among belts as well.

#### 4.2 Temperature Variation

Temperature is an important factor in determining the local distribution of scleractinian corals (Japp et al, 2008). In order to document possible differences in environmental conditions between different segments of the artificial reef and the natural reef, *in situ* submersible data loggers were deployed from July 2005 through February

2007. Data were collected on an hourly basis. The results show how the temperature fluctuated in the four sections (nearshore, mid-depth, offshore, and natural reef). In general, temperatures in all areas generally ranged between 15° C to 35° C, with lowest values in February and highest values in August. Temperatures varied up to  $2^{\circ}$  C per day (Figures 15, 16, 17, and 18). In the nearshore and mid-shore segments, omissions in the data sets were caused by loss of the data logger and subsequent redeployment at a later time. Natural reef temperature data collection did not begin until December 2005 because of logger malfunction. Several quick drops in temperature can be attributed to the passing of the three hurricanes over the course of the study. Katrina on August 25, 2005, Wilma on October 23, 2005, and Ernesto on August 29, 2006. Hurricane Katrina (Figure 16) produced a drop of 1.6° in 48 hours from 30.9°C at 00:00 (midnight) on August 25 to 28.5°C at 00:00 on August 27. Wilma (Figure 17) decreased the ocean temperature 3.9° in 48 hours from 28.3°C at 00:00 on October 23 to 24.4°C by 00:00 on October 26. Finally, Ernesto (Figure 18) produced a temperature decline 1.5° in 48 hours from 30.5°C at 00:00 on August 29 to 29.0°C by 00:00 August 31. The large spikes, anomalies, and outliers were not correlated with any significant weather events or change in ocean condition and may have been caused by malfunction or loss of the equipment. The natural reef and nearshore artificial reef segment records show the least amount of data variability and have the most continuous records of *in situ* water temperature in the shallow waters (1.5-7m depth) off of John U. Lloyd State Park in Dania Beach, Florida.



Seawater Temperatures July 2005 - February 2007

Figure 15: Seawater Temperatures July 2005 - February 2007

Hurricane Katrina Temperatures 2005



Figure 16: Air and Sea Temperatures: Hurricane Katrina, August 25, 2005 Air temperatures courtesy of the Fort Lauderdale International Airport

Hurricane Wilma Temperatures 2005



Figure 17: Air and Sea Temperatures: Hurricane Wilma: October 23, 2005 Air temperatures courtesy of the Fort Lauderdale International Airport



**Hurricane Ernesto Temperatures 2006** 

Figure 18: Air and Sea Temperatures: Hurricane Ernesto, August 29, 2006 Air temperatures courtesy of the Fort Lauderdale International Airport

#### 4.3 Live Tissue Surface Area Per Segment

At the conclusion of the study, the total live tissue surface area of corals found in each particular segment was examined. The natural reef had the highest live tissue density with  $0.065/m^2$ , followed by the offshore artificial reef segment with  $0.059/m^2$ , then the mid-depth artificial with  $0.040/m^2$ , and finally the nearshore artificial with  $0.034m^2$  (Table 2, Figure 19)

These values were then compared with the total available surface on both reef types to determine a percent cover for each segment. Again, the natural reef had the highest percent cover with 6.5%. The values then diminished as one moved toward shore along the artificial reef, from 5.9% for the offshore segment, 3.9% for the mid-depth segment, and 3.4% for the nearshore segment (Table 2).

Next, in order to compare coral cover for the four segments the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis single factor analysis of variance was employed. This test is appropriate when comparing more than two independent samples of equal or unequal size when all the requirements for parametric testing are not met (Ambrose et al. 2002). This test will allow us to assess if there is any difference in coral surface area among the segments and natural reef. The Kruskal-Wallis test H value was 29.28 which is larger than the  $\chi^2$  value of 7.815 where  $\alpha = 0.05$  and v = 3. Therefore the null hypothesis, stating that the mean coral surface areas among each sampled area do not differ significantly from one another, was rejected.

#### Density (Live Tissue/m2)



Figure 19: Live tissue surface area $/m^2$  on both the natural and artificial reef segments.

Once it was determined that significant differences did occur among the four areas, the Newman-Keuls Test (Table 3) was used to determine where differences occurred among segments. When q is larger than  $q_{(0.05, 115, p)}$ , the null hypothesis is rejected and thus results show that:  $\mu 1 = \mu 2 \neq \mu 3 = \mu 4$ , or that the Natural reef and Offshore artificial reef segments differ significantly from the Nearshore Artificial and Midshore Artificial reef segments in terms of coral surface area. Finally, the percentage of individual corals >25cm<sup>2</sup> on the natural reef was 65.6% followed by the offshore segment with 35.1%, the mid-depth with 29.8%, and the nearshore with 24.3% (Table 4).

	Nearshore	Middepth	Offshore	Total	Natural
	(0-125m)	(125-250m)	(250-	Artificial	Reef
			380m)	(0-380m)	
Number of	5.77	4.45	4.99	5.00	1.46
Colonies/m <sup>2</sup>					
Live Tissue	0.034	0.040	0.059	0.046	0.065
cover/m <sup>2</sup>					
Percent Cover	3.4	3.9	5.9	4.6	6.5
(%)					
Depth Range	3-5	5-6	6-7	3-7	4-5
(m)					

Table 2: Coral Data per Segment

Comparison	Difference	SE	q	р	p-value	<b>q</b> <sub>0.05,115,p</sub>	Conclusion
4 vs 1	4218.26	651.35	6.476	4	p < 0.001	3.68	Reject H₀: μ4 = μ1
4 vs 2	2791.76	651.35	4.286	3	p < 0.01	3.35	Reject H₀: μ4 = μ2
4 vs 3	137.05	656.91	0.209	2	p > 0.50	2.78	Accept H <sub>o</sub> : μ4 = μ3
3 vs 2	2654.71	656.91	4.041	2	p > 0.025	2.78	Reject H <sub>o</sub> : $\mu$ 3 = $\mu$ 2
3 vs 1	4081.21	656.91	6.213	3	p < 0.001	3.35	Reject H <sub>o</sub> : $\mu$ 3 = $\mu$ 1
2 vs 1	1426.50	651.35	2.190	2	p > 0.10	2.78	Accept H <sub>o</sub> : μ2 = μ1

Table 3: Newman-Keuls Comparison of Surface Areas. Ranked means:  $\mu 1 =$  Nearshore,  $\mu 2 =$  Mid-depth,  $\mu 3 =$  Natural, and  $\mu 4 =$  Offshore.

Middepth	Offshore	Natural Reef
(125-250m)	(250-380m)	
29.8%	35.1%	65.6%
	Middepth (125-250m) 29.8%	Middepth         Offshore           (125-250m)         (250-380m)           29.8%         35.1%

Table 4: Percent of corals greater than 25cm<sup>2</sup> by segment

## 4.4 Coral Density per Segment

The density of corals for each artificial reef segment and natural reef was then examined. In contrast to the percent cover, the natural reef segment had only 1.46  $corals/m^2$ , followed by the mid-depth artificial reef segment with 4.45  $corals/m^2$ , then the offshore segment with 4.99  $corals/m^2$ , and finally the nearshore segment with 5.77  $corals/m^2$  (Table 5, Figure 20).

	Nearshore	Middepth	Offshore	Natural Reef
	(0-125m)	(125-250m)	(250-380m)	
Number of	5.77	4.45	4.99	1.46
Corals/m <sup>2</sup>				

Table 5: Coral Abundance per Reef Segment

#### Density (Corals/m2)



Figure 20: Number of coral colonies  $/m^2$  on the artificial and natural reef segments.

Here again the Kruskal Wallis test was first used to assess if there were any significant differences in coral abundance among the segments and the natural reef. The Kruskal-Wallis H value was 46.41 which is much larger than the  $\chi^2$  value of 7.815 where  $\alpha = 0.05$  and v = 3. Therefore the null hypothesis stating that the mean number of corals among each sample area do not differ significantly from one another, was rejected.

Once we determined a significant difference in mean coral abundance to exist among the four areas, the Newman-Keuls Test (Table 6) was again used to determine between which segments these differences occurred.

Comparison	Difference	SE	q	р	p-value	<b>q</b> <sub>0.05,115,p</sub>	Conclusion
Off vs Near	38.71	4.084	9.478452	4	p < 0.001	3.68	Reject $H_0$ : $\mu 4 = \mu 1$
4 vs 2	19.24	4.084	4.711068	3	p < 0.005	3.35	Reject H₀: μ4 = μ2
4 vs 3	15.17	4.084	3.714496	2	p < 0.005	2.78	Reject $H_0$ : $\mu 4 = \mu 3$
3 vs 2	4.07	4.049	1.005186	2	p > 0.20	2.78	Accept $H_0$ : $\mu 3 = \mu 2$
3 vs 1	23.54	4.049	5.813781	3	p < 0.001	3.35	Reject H <sub>o</sub> : $\mu$ 3 = $\mu$ 1
2 vs 1	19.47	4.049	4.808595	2	p < 0.001	2.78	Reject H <sub>o</sub> : $\mu$ 2 = $\mu$ 1

Table 6: Newman-Keuls Comparison of Coral Abundance. Ranked means:  $\mu 1 =$  Natural reef,  $\mu 2 =$  Nearshore,  $\mu 3 =$  Mid-Depth, and  $\mu 4 =$  Offshore.

When q is larger than q(0.05, 115, p), the null hypothesis is rejected and thus the results show that  $\mu 2 = \mu 3 \neq \mu 4 \neq \mu 1$ , or that the nearshore (35.9) is equal to the mid-depth (40.0) but not equal to the offshore (55.1), and not equal to the natural reef (16.4) in terms of coral abundance.

## 4.5 Overall: Natural Versus Artificial

Finally, the density of corals and their surface areas on the entire sampled area on the artificial reef was compared to the sampled area on the natural reef. Here, the percent cover of scleractinian corals on the artificial reef was 4.5% and the cover on the natural reef was 6.5%. Next, in comparing the actual number of corals, the artificial reef had 3875 individual coral colonies or 4.9 corals/m<sup>2</sup> and the natural reef had 1133 individual coral colonies or 1.4 corals/m<sup>2</sup> (Table 7).

Based on the SNK results (Table 3), there are greatest similarities in coral live tissue surface area between the nearshore and mid-depth artificial reef segments, and between the offshore artificial reef segment and the natural reef. There are significant

Location	Number of	Coral	Substrate	Percent	Percent
	Corals/m <sup>2</sup>	Surface Area	Surface Area	Cover (All	Corals Larger
		$(m^2)$	$(m^2)$	Corals)	Than 25cm <sup>2</sup>
Nearshore	5.8	6.3	186.9	3.4	24.3
Mid-depth	4.3	10.6	247.6	3.9	29.8
Offshore	5.0	18.3	351.8	5.6	35.1
Total Erojacks	5.0	35.2	786.3	4.3	29.7
Natural	1.4	50.7	786.3	6.5	65.6

Table 7: Overall Coral Abundance and Surface Area

differences between the following pairs of comparisons; nearshore artificial reef segment and natural reef, nearshore and offshore artificial reef segments, mid-depth and offshore artificial reef segments, and mid-depth artificial reef segment and natural reef.

Based on the SNK results (Table 6), the greatest similarity in coral abundance is between the nearshore and mid-depth artificial reef segments. There are significant differences in all other comparisons.

Finally we looked at the average size of the corals (Table 8) between all three segments of the artificial reef (Figure 21) and overall between the Erojacks artificial reef and natural reef (Figure 22) by species. Here we find a general trend that as on progresses from the nearshore artificial reef to the natural reef, most of the coral species increase in size.

				Total	
Species	Nearshore	Mid-depth	Offshore	Artificial	Natural
Siderastrea radians	2.63	2.01	2.52	2.40	4.58
Siderastrea sideria	3.84	15.43	54.35	15.31	15.77
Oculina diffusa	118.80	176.14	215.15	177.91	0.00
Millepora aclicornis	270.16	333.48	441.19	363.28	111.39
Porites astreoides	89.77	0.02	210.65	95.34	172.90
Diploria clivosa	344.17	409.18	590.99	450.08	2353.05
Agaricia agaricities	51.72	44.03	38.96	39.78	45.53
Dichocenia stokesi	231.86	94.55	230.67	185.63	185.79
Phyllangia americana	0.00	10.22	0.58	3.53	0.00
Montastrea cavernosa	0.00	225.01	325.53	315.77	1180.89
Diploria stirgosa	278.70	1530.07	633.85	676.61	2751.54
Diploria labyrinthaformis	785.48	676.51	699.49	710.95	2227.50
Montastrea annularis	0.00	0.00	154.43	154.43	100.41
Stephanocoenia intersepta	119.96	421.08	568.85	257.28	118.58
Solenastrea bournoni	0.00	294.37	531.49	426.11	1359.73
Meandrina meandrites	0.00	0.00	135.97	135.97	981.80
Colpophilia natans	0.00	407.55	485.70	459.65	502.07
Eusmilia fastigiana	60.92	0.00	0.00	60.92	0.00
Porites porites	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	69.99
Acropora cervicornis	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	308.46

 Table 8: Average Live Tissue Surface Area (cm<sup>2</sup>) by Coral Species



#### Average Coral Size (cm<sup>2</sup>)

Figure 21: Average Live Tissue Surface Area (cm<sup>2</sup>) on Each Segment of the Artificial Reef by Species.

#### Average Coral Size (cm<sup>2</sup>)



Figure 22: Average Coral Size (cm<sup>2</sup>) on both the Natural and Artificial Reef by Species.

## 4.6 Shannon-Weiner Diversity Index and Eveness

The Shannon-Weiner index was used to determine the diversity and eveness of the scleractinian corals on both the artificial and natural reef. We can use these values to see how much the artificial reef resembles the natural reef in terms on the coral community. This is important to determine if artificial reefs can support the same corals as the natural reef and see if they are useful tools for mitigation. On the artificial reef, Shannon-Weiner calculation gives an H value of 1.799 and an  $E_H$  value of 0.089, while on the natural reef the H value is 2.198 and  $E_H$  is 0.129 (Table 8).

Species Artificial	Frequency Artificial	Species Natural	Frequency Natural
Agaricia agaricites	106	Agaricia agaricites	3
Colpophylia natans	3	Acropora cervicornis	120
Dichocoenia stokesi	81	Colpopyilia natans	2
Diploria clivosa	106	Dichoecenia stokesi	88
Diploria labyrinthiformis	22	Diploria clivosa	101
Diploria strigosa	37	Diploria labyrinthiformis	1
Eusmilia fastigiata	2	Diploria strigosa	21
Meandrina meandrites	5	Meandrina meandrites	3
Millepora alcicornis	358	Millepora alcicornis	93
Montastrea annularis	13	Montastrea annularis	19
Montastrea cavernosa	56	Montastrea cavernosa	40
Oculina diffusa	376	Porites astreoides	245
Phyllangia americana	72	Porites porites	8
Porites astreoides	127	Siderastrea radians	63
Porites porites	1	Siderastrea sideria	279
Siderastrea radians	1712	Solenastrea bournoni	29
Siderastrea sideria	774	Stephanocoenia intersepts	18
Solenastrea bournoni	9		
Stephanocoenia intersepta	12		
N = 19 species		N = 17 species	
H=1.799		H=2.198	
E <sub>H</sub> =0.089		E <sub>H</sub> =0.129	

Table 8: Species Richness and Shannon-Weiner Diversity.

## 5.0 Discussion:

Artificial reefs have been deployed world-wide over the last 150 years for a variety of purposes, for example enhancing fisheries, combating beach erosion, preserving habitat, and mitigation of natural reef damage. Benefits are somewhat equivocal. In studies by Fitzharding and Bailey-Brock (1989), natural substrata is much more favorable for scleractinian corals and invertebrates than artificial substrata, while Carr and Hixion (1997) have shown artificial reefs to be more favorable for coral

recruitment and growth, and according to Walton (1979) substrata complexity is an important factor in artificial reef success.

Previous studies have shown that recruitment differs greatly between natural and artificial reef substrata. A study by Perkol-Finkel and Benayahu (2007) investigated the recruitment processes to experimental settlement plates attached to artificial and natural reefs and revealed the factors that shape community structure at the two reef types. Their results showed that over time (18 months) the artificial reef resembled the natural reef community in terms of number and diversity of scleractinian corals. Another study by Fukunaga and Bailey-Brock in 2007 showed that an artificial reef in Hawaii, displayed lower abundance of infaunal organisms including polychates, nematodes, and scleractinian corals, but the artificial reef did not differ significantly from two surrounding natural reef sites. In this study, we find the Dania Beach Erojack Reef as a whole is statistically different in both coral abundance and coral surface area. Also comparisons between segments of the artificial reef and natural reef also show statistical differences between and among segments. This information provides useful information to mitigation, to assess how well an artificial reef of this age has done to replace natural habitat.

#### 5.1 Changes Following Hurricanes

Immediately following hurricanes Katrina and Wilma in 2005, the shallowest portion of artificial reef (which was already surveyed for scleractinian corals) was resurveyed to determine if there were changes associated with the natural disturbances. GEE regression shows a significant difference between coral abundance, pre- and post-hurricanes (p < 0.0001), a significant difference between belts (p = 0.003), a significant

difference in coral surface area (p = 0.0001), and a significant difference in surface area among the belts (p = 0.0035). It was found that there was a significant increase in coral cover and coral number after the hurricanes. No comparisons with the natural reef both pre- and post-hurricanes were made.

The majority (78.3%) of the corals were less than  $25 \text{cm}^2$  in size, and did not have much vertical relief or branching. Therefore, increased wave energy during the hurricane merely flowed by the coral without dislodging them. This could be attributed to several factors. First, hurricane Wilma passed from west to east across the reef area and was a very rapidly moving system. This limited the duration of exposure to the disturbance. Plus the disturbance was not particularly intense. As a Category 2 storm Wilma possessed sustained winds of approximately 114kph as measured at the Fort Lauderdale International Airport, 2.4km to the west of the study site. Also, the Erojacks reef is in very shallow water and is susceptible to scouring during storms but it is protected by the middle and inner reef terraces, as well as the nearshore ridge complex, which may have reduced wave intensity. The increase in number, live tissue surface area, and densities may be attributed to some scouring effects in that the increased wave action and scouring removed some algal cover or sediment, thus exposing more coral colonies or a larger portion of an individual colony, making it easier to see. Fragmentation of coral colonies may also contribute to the increased number and density of corals post-hurricane, although this was not noted in the field Another possible reason for the increases in coral cover and abundance may have nothing to do with the hurricane, but more to do with the increased proficiency of the observers, particularly since the corals in this shallowest segment were small and inconspicuous. Here, simply by reevaluating an area

which was already surveyed allowed for the expression of better technique in locating, identifying, and measuring the corals.

#### 5.2 Temperature

Scleractinian corals function best in a certain range of temperatures, generally between 18° and 32°C (Leichter 1999). Water temperature for the nearshore segment ranged from 19.7° C to 31.9° C, mid-depth ranged from 19.1° C to 31.4° C, offshore from 19.1° C to 30.8° C, and the natural reef temperature ranged from 19.8° C to 31.2° C. Leichter's results and those from this study (Figure 13) confirm that temperatures in the study area remain in the coral's optimal range throughout the year, thus promoting coral survival, growth and reproduction.

Temperature was recorded during each of the three passing Hurricanes; Katrina, Wilma, and Ernesto. The passing of each hurricane produced a reduction in sea surface temperature. During Katrina, seawater temperatures fell from 30.9°C to 28.5°C, Wilma produced a decline from 28.3°C to 24.4°C, and Ernesto produced a decline from 30.5°C to 29.0°C, over 48 hour period, however, these temperatures still remain within the limits of coral tolerance.

#### 5.3 Artificial versus Natural Reef

In this study, coral cover, coral colony number, colony size, and coral densities for three distinct segments of a pre-cast concrete artificial reef were compared among themselves and to the surrounding natural reef. Statistical analyses (Kruskal-Wallis and Newman-Keuls) of the surface area data shows that coral cover in the natural reef and offshore artificial reef segment are not significantly different from one another nor are there significant differences between coral cover in the mid-depth artificial reef segment

and nearshore artificial reef segment. There was a significant difference between the natural reef and offshore artificial reef segment compared to the mid-depth and nearshore artificial reef segments. Next, the Kruskal-Wallis test and the Newman-Keuls (Table 6) was used to compare the numbers of individual corals on each segment. Here we find the nearshore and mid-depth segments are not significantly different but the offshore artificial reef segment and natural reef segments are significantly different from one another as well as the nearshore and mid-depth artificial reef segments. We also find that when observing densities, the number of corals/m<sup>2</sup> increases as one moves from the natural reef to the nearshore segment of the artificial reef, however, the live coral tissue surface area/m<sup>2</sup> decreases from natural to nearshore segment.

This could be caused by several factors. First, larvae may be preferentially settling near the natural reef due to better environmental conditions (less temperature variability, more water flow and lower nutrients) because the offshore reef is the closest to the natural reef and since most corals reproduce through the release of egg and sperm or larvae into the water column, and the subsequent settlement may have allowed the offshore segment to recruit first and more often than the other segments. Soong (1993) reported that *Diploria clivosa*, *Siderastrea sideria*, and *Diploria strigosa* all broadcast gametes during a very short spawning season, and that dispersal is limited by local currents. Nearshore eddies spinning off of the Florida Current could allow for the recruitment of the Erojack offshore segment could allow for the progression of coral recruitment along the artificial reef toward the shore. Alternatively, reproduction on the natural reef may disperse directly to the shallower artificial reef segments, but with less abundance of recruits due to their greater distance from the source.

This same idea can also be applied to the percentages of corals on each segment that are larger than  $25 \text{cm}^2$  because even under the best conditions coral growth is only about 4cm per year depending on species (Hallock 1997). In a study by Hubbard and Scaturo (1985) *Diploria clivosa* and *Siderastrea sideria* (the major species found in our study) in the Caribbean grow at a much slower rate of approximately 0.7 to 0.9 cm/year. The corals located nearest to shore may have recruited less frequently and later than those of the mid-shore segment, and even later than the offshore, allowing the offshore corals a longer growing period. This is consistent with why the percent of corals larger than  $25 \text{cm}^2$  on the natural reef (65.6%) almost doubles that of the offshore artificial reef (35.1%) counterpart.

The size of the corals on the artificial reef may also be limited by not only age but by the size and shape of substrate. The natural reef presents a vast flat surface for coral colony growth, while the erojack's complex 3-D structure has surfaces only 8-11cm wide on each leg. On the natural reef, a coral has no physical limit to its ability to spread laterally (Figure 21). Coral colonies on the natural reef have less vertical relief than those of comparable width from the Erojacks Reef. Larger corals on the erojacks reef are typically bulbous in shape since they grow around the faces of the leg (Figure 21). The species composition of the natural and artificial reefs also may account for the differences in coral colony size between the artificial and natural reefs. Some species (e.g. *Diploria clivosa*) attain large size and are found more frequently on the natural reef, compared to a common coral on the artificial reef (*S. siderea*) that is smaller. On the natural reef, 101 *D. clivosa* colonies account for 23.77m<sup>2</sup> of live coral cover, while 279 *S. siderea* colonies only account for 0.44m<sup>2</sup>. In contrast, on the Erojacks Reef, 106 *D*.

*clivosa* colonies account for  $4.77 \text{m}^2$  of live coral cover, while 774 *S. siderea* colonies account for  $1.18 \text{m}^2$ .



Figure 23: Growth forms of corals. A: *D. clivosa* colony on the natural reef.B: *D. labyrinthiformis* colony on the Erojack Reef.

When comparing the number of corals on each segment to one another, significant differences occur between the natural reef, the offshore segment and the midepth segment (Table 6), yet the middepth and nearshore segments are not significantly different (Table 6). The density (number of corals/m<sup>2</sup>) increases from natural to nearshore. This could have occurred for several reasons. First, the competition for space on both the natural and artificial reef is intense, and nearly every square centimeter is covered by some type of benthic organism, including algaes, sponges, *Palythoa*, gorgonians, and hard and soft corals. Perhaps, spawning events over the last 40 years since the deployment of the erojacks have lead to each segment reaching its carrying capacity. The carrying capacity is the population size at which population growth change equals zero. Population size is constrained by food availability, competition with other species, lack of suitable habitat, and interactions with predators and diseases. It is possible that as the artificial reef aged, the carrying capacity has been reached on the offshore segment and new coral recruits have progressively moved to the middepth and nearshore segments in search of suitable substrate.

Next, the shape of an individual erojack is a hexapod, which has a surface area of about 4.4m<sup>2</sup>. Of this area, some will be shaded by the rest of the hexapod so much as to not allow light to reach certain parts. More of this remaining suitable area is lost by piling the erojacks on top of one another. The points where two erojacks meet has also been eliminated from settlement by corals. Finally, after all the jacks have been piled into there current location, much of the interior of the reef may not receive enough light for coral growth, thus eliminating more available area for settlement. Based on hindsight, it is estimated that less than 50% of the Erojack reef is actually suitable for coral recruitment and growth based on these three-dimensional complexity issues. However, as one moves from the offshore segment to the nearshore, the erojacks occasionally become less densely aggregated allowing for some differences in coral abundance between segments because of more available substrate.

When comparing the entire artificial reef with the natural reef, the natural reef had a higher percent cover, however the numbers of individual corals was more than 3 times greater on the artificial reef. Here again, its longer history and larger space available for recruitment and growth has allowed for the larger corals to form and persist on the natural reef. Once a coral colonizes a space it can expand over a larger area, whereas this expansion space is limited on the Erojacks. The nearshore reef complex is approximately 6500 years old (Banks et al, 2007) therefore, time may also be a factor in why the natural reef had significantly fewer, but larger coral colonies. There has been more time for predation, competition, and physical disturbance to have had an effect on the natural reef corals. The lack of time for development then suggests why the artificial reef has more, smaller, coral colonies. The artificial reef was bare concrete at the time of deployment, providing suitable, uninhabited, substrate for coral recruitment where none had existed before. After a suitable "incubation period" to allow biofilms to form on the new substrate corals can then recruit, making the artificial reef was a great place for corals to settle and grow, with little competition for space at the time of deployment (Webster et al, 2004). Over time, competition will become more apparent with more corals recruiting as well as other benthic species, including *Palythoa*, sponges, and soft corals.

On each segment as well as the natural reef, an average size of each coral species was calculated. Here we find that the majority of the corals found in the area, increase is size from the nearshore artificial reef segment, to the mid-depth, offshore, and natural reef. When one compares the total artificial reef with the natural reef, only *Millepora alcicornis, Montastrea annularis, and Stephanocoenia intersepta*, decreased in size on the natural reef.

Here it is believed that the length of time for recruitment and growth are involved. As previously stated, the natural reef is approximately 6500 – 8000 years old (Banks 2008) and the Erojacks Reef is a mere 40 years old. As the Erojacks Reef was colonized, the offshore recruited first, followed by the mid-depth and nearshore segments. Subsequent spawning events on the offshore reef may have allowed for the natural progress of new recruits toward the shore over a longer period of time due to inability to find suitable substrate, or from increased competition, thus diminishing the time for growth within a segment.

Finally, the Shannon-Weiner diversity index showed that both the diversity and eveness of the corals on the natural and artificial reef are very similar. Moyer et al.

(2003), report 23 species of scleractinian corals, with *M. cavernosa* being the dominant species in Broward county. In our study we found 19 species of coral on the artificial reef and 17 on the natural reef. *Porites astreoides* (279 colonies) and *S. siderea* (245 colonies) being the most abundant on the natural reef while *S. radians* (1712 colonies) and *S. siderea* (774 colonies) are the most abundant on the artificial reef. The natural reef does have both a slightly higher H and EH values meaning that the diversity is somewhat higher on the natural reef and that these species are more evenly distributed within the community. This shows that forty years after deployment, the Dania Beach Erojacks Reef does not yet resemble the surrounding natural reef, although the artificial reef and possibly other artificial reefs in Broward County can serve as mitigation sites with coral diversity and biomass that is not too different than the natural reef.

## 6.0 Conclusion

Based on the results of the study, an artificial reef that was submerged 40 years ago shows no statistical difference in the number of coral colonies when compared to the surrounding natural reef, and that the size of the corals on the two shallowest segments of the artificial reef were significantly smaller than those on the deepest artificial reef segment and natural reef. Significantly larger corals were found on the natural reef as compared to a combination of all three artificial reef segments in the study. The limitations in the length of time for corals to recruit and grow, as well as the limitations in the width of available substrata, results in lower diversity and evenness on the artificial reef compared to the natural reef. Differences in environmental factors including differences in temperature, currents, turbidity, and salinity may also play a role in the species composition, size, and abundances between and among each surveyed segment.

Finally, the passage of two hurricanes did not have a negative impact on the small corals located on the shallow (3-4m) portion of the artificial reef.

Here we show that even after 40 years of submergence, the artificial reef still does not resemble the natural reef (in terms of scleractinian coral abundance and density) providing evidence that artificial reefs like the Erojacks Reef may not be the best solution for mitigation of damaged coral colonies in Broward County, Florida.

# 7.0 Literature Cited

Ambrose III, H.W., K.P Ambrose, D.J. Emlen, K.L. Bright. 2002. A Handbook of Biological Investigation 6<sup>th</sup> Edition. Hunter Textbooks Inc. 63-65

Ambrose, R.E. and T.W. Anderson. 1990. Influence of an Artificial Reef on the Surrounding Infaunal Community. Marine Biology. 107: 41-52

Associated Press. Feb 18, 2007. Tires Meant to Foster Sealife Choke it Instead. http://www.nytimes.com/2007/02/18/us/18tire.html?\_r=1&oref=slogin

Ault, J.S., J.A. Bohnsack, and G.A. Meester. 1998. A Retrospective (1979-1996) Multispecies Assessment of Coral Reef Fish Stocks in the Florida Keys. Fishery Bulletin. 96 (3): 395-413

Banks, K.W., B.M. Riegl, E.A. Shinn, W.E. Piller, and R.E. Dodge. 2007. Geomorphology of the Southeast Florida Continental Reef Tract (Miami-Dade, Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, USA). Coral Reefs. 26: 617-633

Baron, R.M., L.K.B. Jordan, R.E. Spieler. 2004. Characterization of the Marine Fish Assemblage Associated with the Nearshore Hardbottom of Broward County, Florida, USA. Estuarine, Coastal, and Shelf Science. 60: 431-443

Baynes, T.W., and A.M. Szmant. 1989. Effects of Current on the Sessile Benthic Community Structure of an Artificial Reef. Bulletin of Marine Science. 44 (2): 545-566

Ben-Tziv, O., Y. Loya, and A. Abelson. May 2004. Deterioration Index: A Suggested Criterion Assessing the Health of Coral Communities. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 48 (9-10): 954-960

Bellwood, D.R., T.P. Hughs, C. Folke, and M. Nystrom. 2004. Confronting the Coral Reef Crisis. Nature. 429 (6994): 827-833

Blair, S.M., T.L. McIntosh, and B.J. Mostkoff. 1994. Impacts of Hurricane Andrew on the Offshore Reef Systems of Central and Northern Dade County, Florida. Bulletin of Marine Science. 54 (3): 961 – 973.

Bohnsack, J.A. and D.L. Sutherland. 1985. Artificial Reef Research: A Review with Recommendations for Future Priorities. Bulletin of Marine Science. 37 (1): 11-39

Bohnsack J.A. 1989. Are High Densities of Fish at Artificial Reefs the Result of Habitat Limitation or Behavioral Preference? Bulletin of Marine Science. 44 (2): 631-645

Brock, R.E., and J.E. Norris. 1989. An Analysis of the Efficacy of Four Artificial Reef Designs in Tropical Waters. Bulletin of Marine Science. 44 (2): 934-941

Brock, R.E. 1994. Beyond Fisheries Enhancement: Artificial Reefs and Ecotourism. Bulletin of Marine Science. 55 (2-3): 1181-1188

Broward County Biological Resource Division, "Artificial Reefs." 7, September 2006. Broward County Florida. 13, April 2007

Buchheim, Jason. 1998. Coral Reef Bleaching. Odyssey Expeditions- Marine Biology Learning Center Publications. http://www.marinebiology.org/coralbleaching.htm

Carleton, J.H., and P.W. Sammarco. 1987. Effects of Substratum Irregularity on Success of Coral Settlement: Quantification by Comparative Geomorphological Techniques. Bulletin of Marine Science. 40 (1): 85-89

Carr, M.H., and M.A. Hixon. April 1997. Artificial Reefs: The Importance of Comparison with Natural Reefs. Fisheries. 22 (4): 28-33

Chiappone, M. and K.M. Sullivan. 1996. Distribution, Abundance, and Species Composition of Juvenile Scleractinian Corals in the Florida Reef Tract. Bulletin of Marine Science. 58 (2): 555-569

Chiappone, M. and K.M. Sullivan. 1994. Patterns of Coral Abundance Defining Nearshore Hardbottom Communities of the Florida Keys. Florida Scientist. 57 (3): 108-128.

Coles, S.L. and P.L.Jokiel. 1992. Effects of Salinity on Corals. pp147-166. In D.W. Connell and D.W. Hawker (eds.) Pollution in Tropical Aquatic Systems.

Coral Cay Conservation. 2007. Coral Reef Ecology and Facts. http://www.coralcay.org/science/reefs/coral\_reef\_ecology.php

Coral Reefs: Common Corals of Florida. 2007. Ichthyology at the Florida Museum of Natural Science. <u>http://www.flmnh.ufl.edu/fish/southflorida/coral/Profiles.html</u>

CRC Press LLC. 2000. Artificial Reef Evaluation with Application to Natural Marine Habitats. 2000 Corporate Blvd., Boca Raton, FL 33431, USA

Dodge, R.E., A. Logan, and A. Antonius. 1982. Quantitative Reef Assessment Studies in Bermuda: A Comparison of Methods and Preliminary Results. Bulletin of Marine Science. 32 (3): 745-760

Dole, R.B., and A.A. Chambers. 1918. Salinity of Ocean Waters at Fowley Rocks, Florida. Carnegie Institute of Washington Publication. 213: 299-315.

Dustan, P. and J.C. Halas. 1987. Changes in the Reef-Coral Community of Carysfort Reef, Key Largo, Florida: 1974 to 1982. Coral Reefs. 6: 91-106

Feary, D.A., G.R. Almany, G.P. Jones, and M.I. McCormick. 2007. Coral Degradation and the Structure of Tropical Fish Communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 333: 243-248

Fitzhardinge R.C. and J.H. Bailey-Brock. 1989. Colonization of Artificial Reef Materials by Corals and Other Sessile Organisms. Bulletin of Marine Science. 44 (2): 567-579

Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, Fish and Wildlife Research Institute, and the National Coral Reef Institute. June 2007. Southeast Florida Coral Reef Evaluation and Monitoring Project 2006 Year 4 Final Report.

Fukunaga, A. and J.H. Bailey-Brock. 2007. Benthic Infaunal Communities Around Two Artificial Reefsin Malama Bay, Oahu, Hawaii. Marine Environmental Research.

Gilliam, D.S. 2007. Southeast Florida Coral Reef Evaluation and Monitoring Project 2006 Year 4 Final Report. Prepared for: Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, Fish & Wildlife Research Institute, Florida Department of Environmental Protection. 31 pp.

Gilliam, D.S., Dodge, R.E., Spieler, R.E., Jordan, L.K.B., and Walczak, J. 2007. Marine Biological Monitoring in Broward County, Florida: Technical Report 06-01. Prepared for: Broward County Board of County Commissioners, Department of Planning and Environmental Protection, Biological Resource Division. pp. 90.

Goldberg, W.M. 1973. The Ecology of the Coral-Octocoral Communities Off the Southeast Florida Coast: Geomorphology, Species Composition, and Zonation. Bulletin of Marine Science. 23 (3): 465-487

Grigg, R.W. and J.E. Maragos. 1974. Recolonization of Hermatypic Corals on Submerged Lava Flows in Hawaii. Ecology. 55 (2): 387-395

Grigg, R.W. 1983. Community Structure, Succession, and Development of Coral Reefs in Hawaii. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 11: 1-14

Gyory, J. et al. 2001. The Florida Current. Ocean Surface Current. (2008). http://oceancurrents.rsmas.miami.edu/caribbean/florida\_2.html

Hadfield, M.G. 1986. Settlement and Recruitment of Marine Invertebrates: A Perspective and Some Proposals. Bulletin of Marine Science. 39 (2): 418-425

Hallock, P. 1997. "Reefs and Reef Limestones in Earth History." Life and Death of Coral Reefs, Ch. 2. Edited by Charles Birkeland. Kluwer Academic Publishers. Boston, MS.

Harris, LE. 2007. Artificial Reefs for Ecosystem Restoration and Coastal Erosion Protection with Aquaculture and Recreational Amenities. 5<sup>th</sup> International Surfing Reef Conference.

Holmes, N.J., V.J. Harriott, and S.A. Banks. 1997. Latitudinal Variation in Patterns of Colonisation of Cryptic Calcareous Marine Organisms. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 155: 103-113

Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (1999). Climate Change, Coral Bleaching and the Future of the World's Coral Reefs. Greenpeace: Sydney (Australia), 28 pp.

Hubbard, D.K. and D. Scaturo. 1985. Growth Rates of Seven Species of Scleractinian Corals from Cane Bay and Salt River, St. Croix, USVI. Bulletin of Marine Science. 36 (2): 325-338

Hughes, T.P. September 9, 1994. Catastrophes, Phase Shifts, and Large Scale Degredation of a Caribbean Coral Reef. Science. 265: 1547-1550

Intermedia Outdoors. 2008. http://www.floridasportsman.com/gallery/artificialreef Jaap, W.C., 1984. The Ecology of the South Florida Coral Reefs: A Community Profile. Florida Department of Natural Resources. St. Petersburg FL.

Jaap, W.C., J.C. Halas, R.G. Muller. 1988. Community Dynamics of Stony Corals at Key Largo National Marine Sanctuary, Florida, During 1981-1986. Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium, Australia. 237-243 Jones, J.A. 1977. Morphology and Development of Southeastern Florida Patch Reefs. Proceedings of the Third International Coral Reef Symposium, Miami Florida. 231-235

Japp, W.C., et al. 2008. A Perspective on the Biology of Florida Keys Coral Reefs. In Coral Reefs of the USA. Springer Science + Business Media. B.M. Riegl and R.E. Dodge eds. 75-126.

Johns, G.M., et al. 2001. Socioeconomic Study of the Reefs in Southeast Florida. Final Report, October 19, 2001 for Broward County, Palm Beach County, Miami-Dade County, and Monroe County. Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission and National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration.

Knabb, R.D., et al. 2006 Tropical Cyclone Report Hurricane Katrina 23-30 August 2005. National Hurricane Center

Knabb, R.D. and M. Mainelli. 2006. Tropical Cyclone Report Hurricane Ernesto 24 August – 1 September 2006. National Hurricane Center

Lee, T.N. 1975 Florida Current Spin-off Eddies. Deep Sea Research 22: 753–765.

Leichter, J.J. and S.L. Miller. 1999. Predicting High Frequency Upwelling: Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Temperature Anomalies on a Florida Coral Reef. Continental Shelf Research. 19: 911-928

Liang, K.Y. and Zeger, S.L. (1986). Longitudinal Data Analysis Using Generalized Linear Models, Biometrika, 73, 13-22.

Lirman, D. et al. 2001. Combined Effects of Three Sequential Storms on the Huatulco Coral Reef Tract, Mexico. Bulletin of Marine Science. 69(1): 267 – 278.

Loya, Y. 1976. Effects of Water Turbidity and Sedimentation on the Community Structure of Puerto Rican Corals. Bulletin of Marine Science. 26: 450-466

Marszalek, D.S., G. Babashoff, M.R. Noel, and D.R. Worley. 1977. Reef Distribution in South Florida. Proceedings of the Third International Coral Reef Symposium, Miami Florida. 223-229

Moyer, R.P., B. Riegl, K. Banks, and R.E. Dodge. 2003. Spatial Patterns and Ecology of Benthic Communities on a High Lattitude South Florida (Broward County, USA) Reef System. Coral Reefs. 22: 447-464

Murdoch, T.J.T., and R.B. Aronson. 1999. Scale Dependent Spatial Variability of Coral Assemblages Along the Florida Reef Tract. Coral Reefs. 18: 341-351

Mutchler, T., K.H. Dunton, et al. 2007. Isotopic and elemental indicators of nutrient sources and status of coastal habitats in the Caribbean Sea, Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico. Estuarine, Coastal, and Shelf Science. 74 (3): 449-457.

Muthiga, N.A. and A.M. Szmant. 1987. The Effects of Salinity Stress on the Rate of Aerobic Respiration and Photosynthesis in the Hermatypic Coral *Siderastrea sideria*. Biological Bulletin. 173: 539-550

Pasch, R.J., et al. 2006. Tropical Cyclone Report Hurricane Wilma 15-25 October 2005. National Hurricane Center Report

Pearson, R.G. 1981. Recovery and Recolonization of Coral Reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 4: 105-122

Perkol-Finkel, S. and Y. Benayahu. 2005. Recruitment of Benthic Organisms onto a Planned Artificial Reefs: Shifts in Community Structure One Decade Post-Deployment. Marine Environmental Research. 59: 79-99

Perkol-Finkel, S. and Y. Benayahu. 2007. Differential Recruitment of Benthic Communities on Neighboring Artificial and Natural Reefs. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 340 (1): 25-39 Pinkering, H., D. Whitmarsh, and a. Jansen. 1998. Artificial Reefs as a Tool to Aid Rehabilitation of Coastal Ecosystems: Investigating the Potential. Marine Pollution Bulletin. 37 (8-12): 505-514

Pratt, J.R. 1994. Artificial Habitats and Ecosystem Restoration: Managing for the Future. Bulletin of Marine Science. 55(2-3): 268-275

Raymond, B. 1981. Underwater Photogrammetric Survey of a Tire Reef. Conference on Artificial Reefs, Daytona Beach, FL (USA), 13 Sep 1979.

Risk, M.J. and A.C. Risk. 1997. Reef Surveys as an Aid in Management. Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium. 1471-1474

Rogers, C.S., T.H. Suchanek, and F.A. Pecora. 1982. Effects of Hurricanes David and Frederic (1979) on Shallow Acropora Palmata Reef Communities: St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands. Buletin of Marine Science. 32 (2): 532 – 548.

Rogers, C.S. 1990. Response of Coral Reefs and Reef Organisms to Sedimentation. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 62. 185 - 202

Samways, M.J., and M.J. Hatton. 2001. An Appraisal of Two Coral Reef Rapid Monitoring Manuals for Gathering Baseline Data. Bulletin of Marine Science. 69 (2): 471-485

Schuhmacher, H. 1998. Development of Coral Communities on Artificial Reef Types Over 20 Years (Eilat, Red Sea). Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Coral Reef Symposium, Australia. 379-384

Seaman, W. 1996. Does the Level of Design Influence Success of an Artificial Reef? Proceedings of the 1<sup>st</sup> Conference of the European Artificial Reef Research Network, Anacona, Italy. 359-376

Segal, B. and C.B. Castro. 2001. A Proposed Method For Coral Cover Assessment: A case Study in Abrolhos, Brazil. Bulletin of Marine Science. 69 (2): 487-496

Sherman, R.L., D.S. Gilliam, and R.E. Spieler. 2002. Artificial Reef Design: Void Space, Complexity, and Attractants. ICES Journal of Marine Science. 59: 196-200

Shinn, E.A. and R.I. Wickland. Artificial Reef Observations form a Manned Submersible Off Southeast Florida. Bulletin of Marine Science. 44 (2): 1041-1050

Sponaugle, S., T. Lee, V. Kourafalou, and D. Pinkard. 2005. Florida Current Frontal Eddies and the Settlement of Coral Reef Fishes. Limnology and Oceanography. 50(4): 1033-1048.

Stegeman, J.J. and A.R. Solow. 2002. Environmental Health and the Coastal Zone. Environmental Health Perspectives. 110: 660-661

Stone, R.B. 1980. A Brief History of Artificial Reef Activities in the United States. Artificial Reef Task Group. National Marine Fisheries Service. Beaufort, NC

Soong, K. 1993. Colony Size as a Species Character in Massive Reef Corals. Coral Reefs. 12 (2).

Stokes, M.E., Davis, C.S., Koch, G.G. (2000). Categorical Data Analysis using The SAS System. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. SAS Institute.

Straccione, N.C. 2002. Coral Recruitment to Various Substrata, Miami Beach, Florida. Masters Thesis. NOVA Southeastern University.

Tomascik, T. 1991. Settlement Patterns of Caribbean Scleractinian Corals on Artificial Substrata Along a Eutrophication Gradient, Barbados, West Indies. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 77: 261-269

Vargas-Angel, B., J.D. Thomas, and S.M. Hoke. 2003. High-latitude *Acropora cervicornis* thickets off Fort Lauderdale Florida, USA. Coral Reefs. 22: 465-473

Walton, J.M. 1979. Puget Sound Artificial Reef Study. State of Washington. Department of Fisheries. Technical Report. 50, 130.

Webster, N.S. et al. 2004. Metamorphosis of a Scleractinian Coral in Response to Microbial Biofilms. Applied Environmental Microbiology. 70(2): 1213 - 1221

Williams, J., E. Johnson, and A. Dyer. 1960. Water Transparancy Observations Along the East Coast of North America. Smithson Miscellaneous Collection 4391. 181.

Woodly, J.D. et al. 1981. Hurricane Allen's Impact on Jamaican Coral Reefs. Science. 214: 749 – 755.

University of Florida. 2007. Corals. Ichthyology at the Florida Museum of Natural History. <u>http://www.flmnh.ufl.edu/fish/</u> May 2008.